#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAN SCHWARTZ, in his official capacity as Treasurer of the State of Nevada,

Appellant,

V.

HELLEN QUAN LOPEZ, individually and on behalf of her minor child, C.Q.; MICHELLE GORELOW, individually and on behalf of her minor children A.G. and H.G.; ELECTRA SKRYZDLEWSKI, individually and on behalf of her minor child, L.M.; JENNIFER CARR, individually and on behalf of her minor children, W.C., A.C., and E.C.; LINDA JOHNSON, individually and on behalf of her minor child, K.J., and SARAH SOLOMON AND BRIAN SOLOMON, individually and on behalf of their minor children, D.S. and K.S., *Respondents*.

Supreme Court No. 69611

Electronically Filed

#### INTRODUCTION

In 2015, the Nevada Legislature exercised its undoubted constitutional authority over education to address the crisis in the State's public education system—the nation's worst.<sup>1</sup> It enacted or revised a number of programs to improve the public schools, and it adopted a new Education Savings Account ("ESA") program that provides funds to parents and students who wish to pursue other educational options better suited to their unique needs. The Legislature gave priority to adopting appropriations for education and appropriated more than \$2 billion for the public schools and the ESA program for the current biennium.

In this case, the district court preliminarily enjoined Senate Bill 302 ("SB 302"), the statute creating the ESA program. After rejecting Respondents' other attacks on SB 302, the court held that the funding structure of SB 302 violates Article 11, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution. Specifically, the district court held that it was unconstitutional for the Legislature to deposit the \$2 billion intended to cover the State's obligations to the public schools and the ESA program into the same account—the State Distributive School Account ("DSA").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In Education Week's most recent *Quality Counts* report, Nevada ranked "dead last" in education, after the other 49 States and the District of Columbia. *See* Trevon Milliard, *Nevada Falls to Last on Education Ranking*, Reno Gazette-J. (Jan. 7, 2016), http://on.rgj.com/1RsjtkC.

The court's view of Section 6 is, however, entirely unsupported by that Section's text, structure, and purpose.

Section 6 imposes three clear and specific duties on the Legislature concerning the funding of the public schools—and the Legislature clearly satisfied all three and SB 302 violates none. First, Section 6.1 requires the Legislature to provide for the "support and maintenance [of the public schools] by direct legislative appropriation from the general fund." Nev. Const. art. 11, § 6.1. No one doubts that the Legislature has done that. For the current biennium, it passed Senate Bill 515 ("SB 515"), which established the per-pupil basic support guarantees for the school districts and transferred \$2 billion in general funds to the DSA to cover both the State's obligations to the school districts and the ESA program.

Next, Section 6.2, enacted in 2006 after the public-school funding impasse of 2003, imposes two other requirements on the Legislature: "[B]efore any other appropriation is enacted to fund a portion of the state budget for the next ensuing biennium, the Legislature shall enact one or more appropriations to provide the money the Legislature deems to be sufficient" for the public schools. Nev. Const. art. 11, § 6.2. Section 6.2 thus requires the Legislature to (1) pass an appropriations bill funding the public schools *before* it passes any other appropriations bill and (2) provide the funds that it "deems to be sufficient" for the

public schools. *Id.* As to the former, there is no dispute that SB 515, the bill that appropriated \$2 billion to the DSA, was the first appropriations bill for the current biennium, and that the very first section of SB 515 set aside "guarantee[d]" funding for Nevada's public schools. And while the latter is plainly not a justiciable duty, the Legislature expressly declared the amount that it set aside in SB 515 as "sufficient" funding for the public schools. Indeed, the very title of SB 515 is "An Act ... ensuring sufficient funding for K-12 public education for the 2015-2017 biennium ...." SB 515, Title.

Section 6 might be violated if, for example, the Legislature refused to fund the public schools; or if it tried to fund them without using any general funds; or if it passed some other appropriations bill before passing the school appropriations bill. But the Legislature did none of those things here.

Nevertheless, the district court held that the funding provision of the ESA bill, SB 302, violated Sections 6.1 and 6.2 and entered a preliminary injunction against its implementation. SB 302 states that funds for the ESA program shall come from the DSA, *see* SB 302, § 16.1, the same account to which the Legislature later appropriated \$2 billion in SB 515. Despite no such requirement in the actual text of the Constitution, the court held that any appropriation into the DSA—here, the \$2 billion—is the amount "the Legislature deems to be sufficient" for the public schools under Section 6.2—and hence the use of such money on the ESA

program leaves the public schools with less than the amount that the Legislature deemed to be sufficient. Admitting that the text of Section 6 imposes no such requirement, the court held that it is unconstitutional for the Legislature to fund the public schools and the ESA program from a single appropriation deposited into the DSA. The court concluded that no portion of the money in the DSA can be used for the ESA program based on its view that any appropriation pursuant to Sections 6.1 and 6.2 must be used *only* for the public schools and that all of the money in the DSA *is* that appropriation.

The Section 6 violations that the district court perceived are wholly illusory. As the district court acknowledged, nothing in the text of Sections 6.1 or 6.2 prohibits the Legislature from appropriating a sum of money to support both the public schools and another per-pupil educational program such as the ESA program, nor do these or any other constitutional provisions require that the entirety of the DSA be set aside for public schools. Indeed, the district court would perceive no Section 6 difficulty with an appropriation into the DSA for the public schools based on an estimate of the number of pupils enrolled and a separate appropriation for the ESA program into a different account based on an estimate of the number of participants in that program. But nothing in either Section 6 or common sense draws a distinction between those two bills and a single appropriation bill that first allocates guaranteed per-pupil funds to public schools,

and also funds the ESA program based on per-pupil enrollment. Section 6 merely requires that public schools be funded first, "before any other appropriation," which is what SB 515 did in its very first section, when it established a per-pupil "guarantee" for public schools. Nothing in Section 6 requires lump-sum appropriations instead of per-pupil appropriations, and nothing forces the Legislature to rely on *ex ante* estimates rather than a more precise per-pupil approach. Indeed, the Legislature has been appropriating "sufficient" funds for public schools on a per-pupil basis under the Nevada Plan since long before ESAs were created.

Because the requirements of Section 6 are clear and specific, it was improper for the district court to read additional, unwritten requirements into Section 6. The first two Section 6 requirements are that the Legislature appropriate funds for the public schools from the general fund (it did that), and that the Legislature do so before passing any other appropriations bill (it did that too). The third (and plainly nonjusticiable) requirement is that the Legislature must appropriate funds for the public schools in an amount that it "deems to be sufficient." Contrary to the district court's view, SB 302 does not violate that requirement. The Legislature passed SB 302 creating the ESA program on May 29, 2015, and provided that funds for the ESA program would come from the DSA. *See* SB 302, § 16.1. Three days later, on June 1, 2015, the Legislature passed SB 515 and appropriated \$2

billion into the DSA. Having passed SB 515 right after SB 302, the Legislature knew full well that the \$2 billion would fund both the per-pupil guarantee for the public schools *and* the ESA program. And the Legislature determined that the appropriation would "ensur[e] sufficient funding" for public education—both for students that stayed in the public schools and those that took advantage of the ESAs. SB 515, Title.

This was no mistake. Funding the public schools and the ESA program out of the same pool of money is the most natural and efficient way to fund the ESA program in a State such as Nevada that funds the public schools on a per-pupil basis. Under the Nevada Plan, the State's contribution to public-school funding does not come in the form of a lump sum appropriation. Instead, the State provides funds to the public schools by setting a "basic support guarantee" for each school district. The basic support guarantee is a per-pupil amount that the State assures to each school district, less the local funds received by the district. In SB 515, the Legislature set an average basic support guarantee of \$5,710 per pupil for FY 2015-16. *See* SB 515, § 1. When a student enters the ESA program, Nevada deposits 90% of the average basic support guarantee for that student into her ESA.

Since both the Nevada Plan and the ESA program provide funding on a perpupil basis—funds for any given student will go either to the school district or into the student's ESA account—it made perfect operational sense for the Legislature to appropriate the \$2 billion intended to cover the public schools' basic support guarantees and the ESA program to a single account. The Legislature could have put a small fraction of the \$2 billion in one account for the ESA program and most of the money in the DSA for the public schools, but that would have required the Legislature to predict the number of public school students who would sign up for the new ESA program. If the Legislature had divided the money in that way, Respondents would have no conceivable argument that SB 302 violates Section 6. But it is impossible to believe that the ESA program is unconstitutional simply because the Legislature chose to adopt a more efficient funding mechanism that the text of the Constitution comes nowhere close to prohibiting.

Finally, even if the district court were correct that Section 6 imposed restrictions nowhere mentioned in its text, the preliminary injunction was still improper. Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate that they would suffer irreparable harm without a preliminary injunction, and the district court offered no more than the conclusory statement that irreparable harm exists. If anything, the parents and students who looked forward to improving their educational options through the ESA program have suffered irreparable harm because of the district court's unsupportable injunction. The district court's order should be reversed and the injunction lifted.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order of the First Judicial District Court in and for the City of Carson City issued on January 11, 2016, preliminarily enjoining the ESA program enacted by the Legislature as SB 302. *See* Order Granting Mot. for Prelim. Inj. ("Order"). The district court's Order is appealable pursuant to N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(3). On January 15, 2016, Appellant timely filed and served a notice of entry of the Order and a notice of appeal.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. Whether the Legislature's appropriation of \$2 billion to the State

  Distributive School Account to fund both the public schools and the ESA program

  for the current biennium means that SB 302 violates Article 11, Section 6 of the

  Nevada Constitution.
- 2. Whether Respondents' claim that the Legislature, in appropriating \$2 billion for both the public schools and the ESA program, did not provide the funds "the Legislature deems to be sufficient" for the public schools, Nev. Const. art. 11, \$6.2, is a non-justiciable political question.
- 3. Whether a preliminary injunction denying thousands of Nevada schoolchildren the opportunity to use the ESA program to attend the school that best meets their needs may issue where Respondents have not been irreparably harmed, or even harmed at all, by the putative Section 6 violation.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 2, 2015, the Legislature adopted and the Governor approved SB 302, which created the ESA program for the benefit of Nevada schoolchildren and their parents. On September 9, 2015, Respondents—the parents of public schoolchildren—brought a facial challenge to SB 302 in the district court. In their complaint, Respondents alleged that SB 302 on its face violates Sections 2, 3, and 6 of Article 11 of the Nevada Constitution. On October 20, 2015, Respondents moved for a preliminary injunction. Nevada opposed Respondent's motion and also moved to dismiss the complaint pursuant to N.R.C.P. 12(b)(5).

On December 24, 2015, the district court denied the motion to dismiss on the view that Appellant "did not argue the complaint does not contain sufficient factual allegations, rather he alleged facts and argued that his facts demonstrate that SB 302 is constitutional." Order Denying Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss 1-2.

On January 11, 2016, the district court granted a preliminary injunction. The court rejected Respondents' claims under Section 2 and Section 3 but held that SB 302 violates Section 6. *See* Order at 7-13.

This Court expedited the briefing of this appeal. *See* Order Granting Mot. to Expedite (Feb. 12, 2016).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. Article 11 of the Nevada Constitution

Article 11 of the Nevada Constitution addresses the subject of education.

Section 1 of Article 11—captioned "Legislature to encourage education"—

instructs the Legislature to encourage education, and it grants the Legislature broad authority to fulfill its obligation by "all suitable means." Nev. Const. art. 11, § 1.

Section 1 states: "The legislature shall encourage by all suitable means the promotion of intellectual, literary, scientific, mining, mechanical, agricultural, and moral improvements ...." *Id*.

While Article 11, Section 1 grants the Legislature considerable flexibility in providing for education by "all suitable means," some of the other provisions of Article 11 impose modest restrictions on that broad authority. In this case, Respondents argued that three sections of Article 11—Sections 2, 3, and 6—precluded the Legislature from enacting SB 302. The district court properly rejected the Section 2 and Section 3 claims. Section 2 states that the "legislature shall provide for a uniform system of common schools." *Id.* § 2. Section 3 provides that the money derived from certain State-owned property (*e.g.*, "All lands granted by Congress to this state for educational purposes") are "pledged for educational purposes and the money therefrom must not be transferred to other funds for other uses." *Id.* § 3.

But the district court agreed with Respondents' Section 6 claim. Before 2006, Section 6 provided that "[i]n addition to other means provided for the support and maintenance of [the state] university and common schools, the legislature shall provide for their support and maintenance by direct legislative appropriation from the general fund." In 2003, however, the Legislature did not pass a balanced budget or fund the public schools until July of that year, after this Court had issued a writ of mandamus directing the Legislature "to fulfill its obligations under the Constitution of Nevada by raising sufficient revenues to fund education while maintaining a balanced budget." *Guinn v. Legislature of State of Nev.*, 119 Nev. 277, 282, 71 P.3d 1269, 1272 (2003), *pet. for reh'g dis'd & prior op. clarified*, 119 Nev. 460, 76 P.3d 22 (2003).

In the wake of the 2003 impasse and the *Guinn* litigation, Section 6 was amended by initiative petition in 2006. The first two subsections of Section 6 now provide in full as follows:

- 1. In addition to other means provided for the support and maintenance of said university and common schools, the legislature shall provide for their support and maintenance by direct legislative appropriation from the general fund, upon the presentation of budgets in the manner required by law.
- 2. During a regular session of the Legislature, before any other appropriation is enacted to fund a portion of the state budget for the next ensuing biennium, the Legislature shall enact one or more appropriations to provide the money the Legislature deems to be sufficient, when combined with the local money reasonably available for this purpose, to fund the operation of the public schools in the

State for kindergarten through grade 12 for the next ensuing biennium for the population reasonably estimated for that biennium.

Nev. Const. art. 11, §§ 6.1-6.2.

Section 6.1 thus provides that the Legislature shall see to the support and maintenance of the public schools "by direct legislative appropriation from the general fund." *Id.* § 6.1. And Section 6.2 provides that, "before any other appropriation is enacted," the Legislature shall appropriate "the money the Legislature deems to be sufficient, when combined with the local money" to fund the public schools for the next biennium. *Id.* § 6.2.

Significant for this case, Section 6 does *not* say that funds appropriated for the public schools and deemed sufficient for that purpose cannot be combined with funds intended to be used for related educational purposes. Nothing in Section 6 forbids the Legislature from appropriating to one account the funds that it deems sufficient to support the public schools and another educational program, such as the ESA program. Nor does anything in Section 6 designate the entirety of the DSA funds as *the* funds that the Legislature has set aside as "sufficient" for the public schools. Rather, it simply requires that the Legislature appropriate money for public education first before it turns to other appropriations bills.

## B. The "Nevada Plan" for Public School Funding

The Nevada Plan is the State's statutory scheme for funding the public schools. A central feature of the Nevada Plan is that the State provides funding to

the school districts on a per-pupil basis, rather than through lump-sum payments.

For each school district, the Legislature establishes a "basic support guarantee"—

the per-pupil amount that the Legislature assures that the district will receive. The

Legislature provides to each school district the difference between the local educational funds it receives and the amount of its basic support guarantee.

"To fulfill its constitutional obligation to fund education, the Legislature created the Nevada Plan, a statutory scheme setting forth the process by which it determines the biennial funding for education." *Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 293 P.3d 874, 883 n.8 (2013). "The Nevada Plan assumes certain local money will be 'reasonably available' to fund education and envisions funding from three funding sources: local taxes consisting primarily of property taxes, local funds consisting of a portion of the same property taxes and separate sales taxes, and state funds." *Id.* (citing NRS 387.121; NRS 387.1235(1); and NRS 387.195). "In addition to financing the State's own share, the Legislature is required to 'guarantee' a shortfall in local funds when the local funds are less than projected." *Id.* (citing NRS 387.121).

Under "the Nevada Plan," NRS 387.121, "the Legislature establishes 'basic support guarantees' for all school districts." *Rogers v. Heller*, 117 Nev. 169, 174, 18 P.3d 1034, 1037 (2001) (quoting NRS 387.122). "The basic support guarantee is the amount of money each school district is guaranteed to fund its operations."

Order at 3. The basic support guarantee is a per-pupil guarantee: "The amount for each school district is determined by the number of pupils in that school district." *Id.* "After the legislature determines how much money each local school district can contribute, the legislature makes up the difference between the district's contribution and the amount of the basic support guarantee." *Id.*; *see also Rogers*, 117 Nev. at 174, 18 P.3d at 1037 (citing NRS 387.121 and 387.1235). "Funds appropriated by the legislature from the general fund sufficient to satisfy each district's basic support guarantee are deposited into the State Distributive School Account ('DSA'), which is an account within the state general fund." Order at 3; *see also* NRS 387.030.

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