IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAN SCHWARTZ, in his official capacity as Treasurer of the State of Nevada,

Appellant,

v.

HELLEN QUAN LOPEZ, individually and on behalf of her minor child, C.Q; MICHELLE GORELOW, individually and on behalf of her minor children, A.G. and H.G.; ELECTRA SKRYZDLEWSKI, individually and on behalf of her minor child, L.M.; JENNIFER CARR, individually and on behalf of her minor children, W.C., A.C., and E.C.; LINDA JOHNSON, individually and on behalf of her minor child, K.J.; SARAH and BRIAN SOLOMON, individually and on behalf of their minor children, D.S. and K.S.,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 69611

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

literary, scientific, mining, mechanical, agricultural, and moral improvements) by all suitable means within the public schools. This is evident from very next clause of Section 1 that mandates the Legislature to "provide for a superintendent of public instruction." Nev. Const. art. XI, § 1 (emphasis added). The debate around this section by the framers centered on the public schools and even more specifically on the role of the public schools in moral instruction, which was a new concept at the time. As Delegate Collins explained, Section 1 means that:

[T]he State may properly encourage the practice of morality in contradistinction to sectarian doctrines. For instance, if a child insists on the practice of using profane language, I presume it should be made the duty of the School Superintendent, the teacher, or the Board of Education to insist that he shall either refrain from such practice or be expelled.

RA 326-27 (Green Decl. ¶ 24 (citing Debates and Proceedings at 566)).

Defendant offers no evidence that the framers contemplated giving the Legislature a blank check in Section 1 to fund non-public means of education. Rather, they intended Section 1 to direct the Legislature to advance certain categories of learning within the uniform system of public schools that must be established under Article XI. Indeed, the framers asked that Section 1 be read in conjunction with Section 2 before passing Section 1 so that they "knew what they were voting on." RA 327-28 (Green Decl. ¶ 26).

This meaning is also consistent and harmonious with the language and intent of the Education Article as a whole. As Professor Green explains, the delegates'

clear intent in passing Article XI was to provide for a system of public education. RA 326-27 (Green Decl. ¶ 24 (citing Debates and Proceedings at 566)). In both the 1863 and 1864 debates, the delegates agreed that the Legislature had to provide for a system of public education and that this was the appropriate method of educating Nevada school children. RA 321-24 (Green Decl. ¶¶ 8-15).

Professor Green further explains that "[t]here is no evidence from the debates that in passing this version of Article XI, section 1, the delegates intended to confer power on the legislature to fund non-public educational systems." RA 327 (Green Decl. ¶ 25). Professor Green continues, "the idea that the delegates meant to empower the Legislature to fund both the public schools and other means of educating Nevada's children is inconsistent with the delegates' pronounced concerns that there would not be enough funds to provide for both common schools and higher education." RA 328-29 (Green Decl. ¶ 27). It is also inconsistent with the framers' intent to reign in legislative power. RA 329-30 (Green Decl. ¶¶ 28-30).

The delegates intended that the Legislature would amply fund Nevada's public school system established under Article XI and there is no support for Defendant's contention that Section 1 authorizes the Legislature to use public

¹

While the founders did recognize the Legislature's discretion in certain matters of education, including the age at which children should attend school and whether public education should be compulsory, the delegates declined to do so with respect to matters of funding. *See supra* at 6.

funds to subsidize private school tuition and home schooling. RA 329-30 (Green Decl. ¶¶ 28-31).

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT SB 302 WILL CAUSE IRREPARABLE HARM

A lower court's finding of irreparable harm is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *People of State of Cal. ex rel. Van De Kamp v. Tahoe Reg'l Planning Agency*, 766 F.2d 1308, 1313 (9th Cir. 1985) (holding that a "district court's finding of the likelihood of irreparable harm is reviewed for an abuse of discretion."). The district court did not abuse its discretion in finding that SB 302 was likely to cause irreparable harm.

A. <u>SB 302's Violation Of Nevada's Constitution Is Itself An</u> Irreparable Harm

SB 302 violates Article XI, Sections 2 and 6, of the Nevada Constitution.

This Court has held that a constitutional violation alone constitutes irreparable harm. *City of Sparks v. Sparks Mun. Ct.*, 302 P.3d 1118, 1124, 1130, 129 Nev. Op. 38 (2013) (citing *Monterey Mech. Co. v. Wilson*, 125 F.3d 702, 715 (9th Cir. 1997)).

Federal courts are in accord with this precedent. In *Monterey Mechanical*, on which *Sparks* relied, the Ninth Circuit held that "an alleged constitutional infringement will often alone constitute irreparable harm." 125 F.3d at 715. More recently, in *Stormans, Inc. v. Selecky*, 586 F.3d 1109, 1138 (9th Cir. 2009), the Ninth Circuit affirmed that "unlike monetary injuries, constitutional violations

cannot be adequately remedied through damages." (internal alteration and quotations omitted); *see also Fyock v. City of Sunnyvale*, 25 F. Supp. 3d 1267, 1282 (N.D.Cal. 2014) ("Irreparable harm is presumed if plaintiffs are likely to succeed on the merits because a deprivation of constitutional rights always constitutes irreparable harm.").

In violating Sections 2 and 6, SB 302 deprives Nevada children of their right to a public education guaranteed by the Nevada constitution. This right is so basic and fundamental that its violation must, in and of itself, constitute irreparable harm.

B. <u>Plaintiffs, Parents Of Nevada Public School Children,</u> <u>Demonstrated That SB 302 Causes Harm At The School Level</u>

Plaintiffs also presented a substantial evidentiary record on the irreparable harm SB 302 would cause to the Nevada public schools. For this reason, the district court did not abuse its discretion in finding that SB 302 will cause irreparable harm.

SB 302 will result in a substantial reduction of funds for the public schools. There have been over 4,000 applications for ESAs. AOB 47. Those applicants represent an immediate loss of more than \$20 million to public schools. Moreover, Defendant has estimated that if every private school student and home school student received an ESA, public school funding would be reduced by over \$200 million. RA 69.

Paul Johnson, the Chief Financial Officer for White Pine County School District, explained in detail how "SB 302 will harm public schools and the students they serve." RA 115 (Johnson Decl.). Likewise, Jim McIntosh, Clark County's Chief Financial Officer, concurred, noting a loss of even 1,000 students from the 2015-2106 school year would trigger a budgetary shortfall that "would cause significant harm to students enrolled in CCSD." RA 124 (McIntosh Decl. ¶ 4). Those harms could include "eliminat[ing] instructional materials for certain courses" or cutting certain programs like "college preparation programs, dropout prevention programs, math and science enrichment programs." *Id.* Mr. McIntosh specifically noted that the "[i]mpacts of shifting and declining enrollment and funding are felt most deeply at the school level." *Id.* (¶ 6).

Plaintiffs also demonstrated the harm from SB 302 to school districts and their students by disrupting the districts' ability to provide essential services. On the one hand, SB 302 actively induces students to exit the public schools by

_

¹² Mr. Johnson initially thought SB 302 only allowed use of ESAs for brick and mortar private schools, and thus he submitted a statement that SB 302 would not have a fiscal impact for White Pine, a County that currently has no private schools. AA 31. Once he understood that SB 302 applied to home schooling and distance learning as well as private schools, Mr. Johnson clarified that the loss of funding through SB 302 would have a negative impact on his and other districts. RA 365 (Johnson Reply Decl. ¶ 4).

¹³ Defendant argues that Plaintiffs' irreparable harm argument would support the conclusion that the State transferring workers from one county to another is an irreparable harm. AOB 47 n.19. As explained in Section I.C, *supra*, SB 302 does not impact public schools in the same way that a child changing districts impacts schools. Moreover, an irreparable harm analysis applies only to unconstitutional or illegal acts.

subsidizing non-public education. On the other hand, it incentivizes students in private schools or homeschooled students to enroll in a public school for the minimum 100 days to become ESA-eligible. This revolving door disrupts the ability of public school districts to provide and sustain quality education for all students. Jeff Zander, Superintendent of the Elko County schools, explained:

The fact that SB 302 allows students to leave in the middle of a school year makes managing budget reductions all the more challenging. Mid-year budget reductions are particularly harmful and disruptive to schools. They require school districts to make changes in the allocation of resources and the provision of programs during the school year, to the detriment of students.

RA 122 (Zander Decl. ¶ 7); see also RA 119 (Johnson Decl. ¶ 13 ("SB 302 will introduce significant budgeting instability that will harm students. School districts . . . will be faced with the prospect of planning for a shifting landscape. . . . Schools would be required to revise its course offerings, change student schedules, and move students into different classrooms.").

Unable to dispute Plaintiffs' compelling evidence of harm, Defendant resorts to broad mischaracterizations of the record below. Defendant argues that Plaintiffs have not shown a likelihood of irreparable harm because the evidence from Plaintiffs' declarants focused on school districts. AOB 45. However, districts operate schools, and the budgetary impacts from SB 302 will directly impact the availability of teachers, support staff and other resources in the district's schools and classrooms. The Johnson, McIntosh, and Zander declarations all directly

address harms from SB 302 that students will experience. RA 124 (McIntosh Decl. ¶ 4 (noting "significant harm to students enrolled in CCSD")); RA 119 (Johnson Decl. ¶ 13 ("SB 302 will introduce significant budgeting instability that will harm students.")); RA 122 (Zander Decl. ¶ 7 (noting that changes caused SB 302 will be to "detriment of students")).

Defendant also characterizes Plaintiffs' declarations as relying on the speculation that "significant funds" would be diverted from public schools under SB 302. AOB 45 n.18. But, Plaintiff's declarations address both large and more limited reductions in funding. RA 115-16 (Johnson Decl. ¶¶ 8-9 (discussing harms felt from the loss of just 30 students)); RA 121 (Zander Decl. ¶ 5 (discussing harms from "minor changes in enrollment")); RA 124-25 (McIntosh Decl. ¶ 4 (discussing harms from merely 1,000 students leaving Clark County)). Moreover, the significant financial impact on district budgets from SB 302 is in no way speculative. Based on Defendant's own estimate of 4,000 applicants to the ESA program, over \$20 million will be cut from the public school budget in just the first year of SB 302's implementation.

Defendant also argues that the harm from SB 302 is only "financial" and,

_

¹⁴ Defendant relies on *Flick Theater, Inc. v. City of Las Vegas*, 104 Nev. 87, 91 n.4, 752 P.2d 235, 238 n.4 (1988) for his position that Plaintiffs' harm is "mere conjecture." AOB 45-46 n.18. But, there, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed a preliminary injunction because of a complete absence of a record of harm to protected speech by adult business operators. The certain harm to public school children from decreased funding is not akin to the unsupported harm alleged by adult business proprietors.

therefore, not irreparable. AOB 46 n.18. But that makes no sense when discussing the education of children. Diminished resources that impact a first grader's ability to read, a fourth grader's scientific reasoning, a seventh grader's ability to write, an eighth grader's ability to master foundational algebraic concepts, and so on, will ripple out through each child's educational experience and will not be remedied by more money later. The record firmly establishes the harms SB 302 will cause at the school and classroom levels, diminishing the opportunities for students to master reading, problem solve, understand scientific reasoning and otherwise obtain the skills needed for college, career, and citizenship. The harms from SB 302 strike at the very core of the education that must be afforded all Nevada public school children, harms that cannot be remedied through the restoration of funding at some future date.

Defendant's other attempts to relitigate the factual question of irreparable harm similarly fail. First, Defendant argues that Plaintiffs cannot show irreparable harm because "the only constitutional violation the district court found was the Section 6 violation, and that putative violation does not entail any diversion of public school funds." AOB 43. This does not make sense. A violation of Section 6 means that there will be a diversion of public school funds that will cause harm, just as the district court found. AA 46 ("[G]eneral funds appropriated to fund the operation of the public schools will be diverted to fund education saving[s] accounts under SB 302").

Next, Defendant asserts that SB 302 may benefit the public schools because, by decreasing enrollments, the law will somehow address the public school teacher shortage. There is no support in the record for this brazen speculation. This assertion also ignores Plaintiffs' uncontested evidence that, as students leave the public schools and obtain ESA funds, the public schools will experience a shortfall in crucial operational funds necessary to pay its teacher workforce.

Defendant further contends, without offering evidentiary support, that the hold harmless provision in SB 515 will mitigate any losses of funding suffered by the school districts. AOB 46. Defendant ignores that a five percent year-over-year reduction in funds to school districts represents a significant funding loss. For example, five percent of Clark County's student population is approximately 16,000 students. If just less than 16,000 students applied for ESAs, the district's budget would be cut by at least \$35 million (16,000 x \$2,213 estimated state share of BSG).

Lastly, Defendant attempts to reframe the issue of irreparable harm as a comparison between the harms of SB 302 diverting funds from SB 515 and those from a hypothetical statute authorizing ESAs funded through an appropriation separate and distinct from the public school appropriation. *See* AOB 43-44. The record is devoid of any evidence that even suggests the Legislature would have passed both SB 515 with the funds it deemed sufficient to fund the public schools—approximately \$2 billion for this biennium—and another, separate bill

with a separate appropriation for ESAs, which could well reach \$200 million if just current private and home school students qualified. RA 69. The harms of this hypothetical statute to the Nevada budget are also real but irrelevant to the analysis here.

Plaintiffs presented substantial, uncontested evidence that SB 302 will result in direct harm to Nevada's public schools and the students attending those schools. The district court did not abuse its discretion in determining that Plaintiffs had shown a likelihood of suffering from irreparable harm.¹⁶

C. The Balance Of Hardships Weighs In Favor Of Preliminarily Enjoining SB 302

The balance of hardships also weighs in favor of enjoining SB 302. Issuing a preliminary injunction preserves the status quo in Nevada for more than 150

_

¹⁵ Indeed, the record shows that the Legislature enacted SB 302 precisely because it erroneously believed it was fiscally neutral by diverting funds from the appropriation for the public schools.

¹⁶ Defendant raises in a footnote, for the first time on appeal, that Nevada does not recognize taxpayer standing. Defendant did not contest Plaintiffs' standing below, and there is no basis for depriving Plaintiffs of standing before this Court. Regardless, Plaintiffs, while Nevada taxpayers, rely not only on that status but also on the harm that SB 302 will cause to the public schools, their children, and other children across the state. Further, contrary to Defendant's statement, this Court has never determined whether taxpayer standing exists in Nevada. In *Blanding v. City of Las Vegas*, relied on by Defendant, this Court held that taxpayers could not challenge a municipality's placement of a road, but noted that the result would have been different if the challenged action has been "prejudicial to the rights of taxpayers, as such, as involving the levy of tax, creation of a municipal debt, or appropriation or expenditure of public funds, or in any way tending to increase the burden of taxation." 52 Nev. 52, 280 P. 644, 650 (1929).

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